#### Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Integration to Oracle Field Service

User's Guide Release 23C **F90784-02** 

January 2024

•



Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Integration to Oracle Field Service User's Guide, Release 23C

Copyright © 2000, 2024 Oracle and/or its affiliates.

## Contents

Preface	i
Audience	
Documentation and Resources	ii
Updates to Documentation	
Documentation Accessibility	iii
Conventions	iii
Acronyms	iii
Chapter 1	
Overview	
Background	
Integration Overview	
Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service	
Oracle Field Service	
Oracle Integration Cloud	
Chanter 2	
Supported Features	2.1
Business Terms	2-1 2 2
Business Flows	
Business Processes	2.4
Administration Sync	
Activity Management	2-4 2_4
Asset Management	2-5
Resource Usage Management	2-6
Status Updates	2-6
Truck Storeroom Management	2-6
Functional Overview	2-7
Activity Creation	2-7
Activity Assigned to Crew	
Starting the Activity	
Asset/Component Operations	
Resource Usage	
Service Histories	
Attachments	
Complete Activity	
Use Cases	
Chapter 3	
User Operations	
Creating an Activity	
Sending an Activity	
Assigning a Crew	

Starting the Activity	
Locking the Activity	
Activity Details	
Service Histories	3-8
Planned Service Histories	
Asset Service Histories	
Measurements	
Resource Usage	3-16
Activity Completion	3-19
Asset Installs and Removals	3-20
Installing Assets	3-20
Attaching Components	3-21
Moving Assets Out of Service	3-22
Removing Assets or Components	3-24
Undoing Installations	3-25
Undoing Newly Attached Components	3-25
Navigating to Parent Assets	3-26
Undoing Asset Removals	3-20
Moving Assets Back to Service	3 27
Replacing Assats	3.28
Replacing Components	3 20
Undoing Asset Peologoments	3 20
Customer Devices	3 31
A goat Palatad Work Pagesat	
Asset Related Work Request	
Mon-Asset Related Request	
Mobile Inventory Management	
Truck Materials Lifecycle Examples	
Truck Storeroom Admin Sync	
Iruck Inventory Snapshot	
Assigning Truck to Crews	
Using Inventories for Activities	
Update Truck Inventories	
Chapter 4	
Data Relationships	
Oracle Utilities Divital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service	Data Synchronizations 4-2
Mobile Control Data Sync	4-2
Truck Storeroom Admin Sync	4-4
Oracle Field Service to Oracle Utilities Divital Asset Cloud Service	Data Synchronizations 4-4
Truck Storeroom Inventory Spanshot Sync	4_4
Appendix A	
Considerations	A-1
Annendix B	
Additional Information Integration Concents	D 1
Additional Information - Integration Concepts	D ס ס ס
Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service	
	D-2
Admin	
Dispatch Console	B-3
Kesource 1 ree	В-3
Buckets	
Field Resources	B-4
Appendix C	
FAOs	C-1
	G 1

## Preface

Welcome to the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Integration to Oracle Field Service User's Guide for release 23C.

This user's guide includes the information required for the integration to work effectively. It describes how to use the features in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. It provides instructions for completing common tasks and provides descriptions of the fields, windows, buttons, and menus used to perform those tasks. The instructions and descriptions in this guide are based on the default product configuration for a user with full authority to use all functionality.

**Note:** The screenshots and images provided in this document are sample references based on the current release of Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Integration to Oracle Field Service. They may change based on changes to UI in the future releases.

The preface includes the following:

- Audience
- Documentation and Resources
- Updates to Documentation
- Documentation Accessibility
- Conventions
- Acronyms

## Audience

This document is intended for anyone implementing the integration between Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and Oracle Field Service.

## **Documentation and Resources**

For more information regarding this integration, foundation technology and the edge applications, refer to the following documents:

#### **Product Documentation**

Resource	Location
Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Integration to Oracle Field Service documentation	https://docs.oracle.com/en/industries/energy- water/integrations-index.html
Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service documentation	https://docs.oracle.com/en/industries/energy- water/digital-asset-cloud-service/index.html
Oracle Field Service documentation	https://docs.oracle.com/en/cloud/saas/field- service/index.html

#### **Additional Documentation**

Resource	Location
Oracle Integration Cloud Service documentation	Refer to the OIC documentation at: https://docs.oracle.com/en/cloud/paas/ integration-cloud/index.html
Oracle Support	Visit My Oracle Support at https:// support.oracle.com regularly to stay informed about updates and patches.
	Refer to the <i>Certification Matrix for Oracle Utilities</i> <i>Products (Doc ID 1454143.1)</i> on My Oracle Support to determine if support for newer versions of the listed products is included.
	For more information, refer to the Oracle Utilities Integrations page at http://my.oracle.com/site/ tugbu/productsindustry/productinfo/utilities/ integration/index.htm
Oracle University for training opportunities	http://education.oracle.com/

## **Updates to Documentation**

The complete Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Integration to Oracle Field Service documentation set is available from Oracle Help Center at https://docs.oracle.com/en/industries/energy-water/index.html.

Visit My Oracle Support for additional and updated information about the product.

## **Documentation Accessibility**

For information about Oracle's commitment to accessibility, visit the Oracle Accessibility Program website at http://www.oracle.com/pls/topic/lookup?ctx=acc&id=docacc.

#### Access to Oracle Support

Oracle customers have access to electronic support for the hearing impaired. Visit: http://www.oracle.com/pls/topic/lookup?ctx=acc&id=info or http://www.oracle.com/pls/topic/lookup?ctx=acc&id=trs

## Conventions

Convention	Meaning
boldface	Boldface type indicates graphical user interface elements associated with an action, or terms defined in text or the glossary.
italic	Italic type indicates book titles, emphasis, or placeholder variables for which you supply particular values.
monospace	Monospace type indicates commands within a paragraph, URLs, code in examples, text that appears on the screen, or text that you enter.

The following text conventions are used in this document:

### Acronyms

The following terms are used in this document:

Term	Expanded Form
OUDACS/DACS	Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service
OFS	Oracle Field Service
OIC	Oracle Integration Cloud
DVM	Domain Value Map (Lookup)

# Chapter 1 Overview

This chapter provides an overview about Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service, Oracle Field Service, and Oracle Integration Cloud. It focuses on the functionality and business standpoint of each part and in the integration.

The chapter provides detailed information about the following:

- Background ٠
- Integration Overview •

### Background

The pandemic has forced utilities to rethink their digital transformation strategy to meet ever-changing customer expectations.

No other industry has placed the same level of burden on its operations personnel, as the utility industry has. Utilities around the world continue to navigate disruption - from new asset types across a smarter grid, to record breaking weather events. Layer in unpredictable hurdles, like keeping crews safe amidst a pandemic, and meeting increasingly challenging regulatory and financial demand, and its clear utility operations personnel are under growing pressure to adapt and perform under increasingly extreme conditions.

Customer expectations are higher than ever now with real-time access to services being the norm (food delivery, parcel services, ride sharing, and so on). Utilities need to keep their customers informed on appointments and other crew activity, and across the board need to be as efficient as possible getting their crews to their jobs throughout the day. Extreme weather events continue increase in both frequency and magnitude, so utilities need to adapt operations accordingly. During, and after, any large outage scenario, such as an extreme weather event, it is critical to be able to adapt quickly, have total visibility of your crews, and get them to the right location fast to restore service for your customers.

Legacy providers and legacy systems that simply were not designed for today's complexities, have left utilities to address these challenges in silos. Data sets become isolated, processes become disconnected, and cost overruns become a certainty, with utility operations left even further behind.

Our out-of-the-box integrated solution between Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and Oracle Field Service addresses these challenges by providing advanced activity and crew management, comprehensive collaboration, and other tools for efficient utility operations.

## **Integration Overview**

The Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service integration to Oracle Field Service facilitates the exchange of information related to a utility owned controllable device(s) during program enrollment or unenrollment.

Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service integration to Oracle Field Service helps to manage a fieldwork originated in the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service solution in Oracle Field Service. The integration can be leveraged to create /update/ cancel and complete activities in the field using the Oracle Field Service solution.

The major business flows revolve around activities and usage reporting. The activities are created in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and sent to Oracle Field Service for the mobile worker to perform the activity. The field activity completion information along with additional details are sent from Oracle Field Service to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. In addition, the integration supports admin sync from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service.



The three major components in this implementation are:

- Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service
- Oracle Field Service
- Oracle Integration Cloud

#### **Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service**

Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service provides the core functionality for utilities to create, run, and maintain demand response and distributed energy resource programs.

It comprises the following functional areas:

- Asset and Device Management: Maintenance of controllable assets, such as "smart" thermostats, electric vehicle chargers, storage batteries, and other types of devices.
- **Program Enrollment/Unenrollment**: Identifying specific customers that are eligible for particular programs, and establishing relationships between the customers, the programs, and if appropriate, device locations where one or more controllable devices are (or have been) installed.
- **Program Management**: Creation and maintenance of Demand Response Programs to which customers can subscribe and which allows utilities to temporarily alter the settings of specific devices in their homes as a response to periods of high demand.
- **Program Subscriptions**: Maintenance of a customer's program subscriptions that represent the customer's enrollment in a program and device registration. Program subscriptions link the customer to a program and device location where controllable devices are installed.

• **Demand Response Event Management**: Identification and reservation of a customer's controllable devices in response to usage demand.

#### **Oracle Field Service**

Oracle Field Service is built on time-based, self-learning, and predictive technology, empowering to solve business problems while evolving the field service organization. It has various modules to choose, such as forecasting, routing, capacity, mobility, collaboration, core manage, smart location, customer communication, and more. It leverages the performance pattern profiles to create optimal daily routes and schedules and continues to learn as employee work patterns change over time.

The Oracle Field Service functionality is based on user privileges to support the business case. There are two primary types of users:

- Users who use the manage aspect, for example, dispatchers and field managers.
- Field service resources who use the mobile application. Example: field service personnel

The screens are different for administrator, dispatcher, crew, etc. For more information, refer to Appendix B: Additional Information - Integration Concepts.

#### **Oracle Integration Cloud**

Oracle Integration Cloud is a business accelerator package with pre-build interactions to facilitate Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and Oracle Field Service communications.

Oracle Integration Cloud ensures that the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service requests are being forwarded to Oracle Field Service and vice versa. Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service are sending direct requests when the operator makes changes on the user interface. On the other hand, Oracle Field Service is an event-based applications and Oracle Integration Cloud is listening to incoming event changes.

To implement certain business logic, Oracle Integration Cloud is using properties stored configuration files named lookups to:

- Translate Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service into Oracle Field Service understandable values
- Preset default values
- Pre-defined field names

## Chapter 2

## **Supported Features**

Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service integration to Oracle Field Service helps to manage a fieldwork originated in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service using Oracle Field Service. This pre-built integration represents significant business value for utilities that need to manage their field operations.

For more information about the functionality, refer to the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Integration to Oracle Field Service Configuration Guide included in this release. The documentation is available on Oracle Help Center at: https://docs.oracle.com/en/ industries/energy-water/integrations-index.html

The following topics are included in this chapter:

- Business Terms
- Business Flows
- Business Processes
- Functional Overview
- Use Cases

## **Business Terms**

Business Term	Description
Activities	Work activities are work tasks that need to be completed and originate from a work order or a work order template.
	Example: Activities may be created for maintenance and inspection of assets, to create service history, and to install or exchange devices.
Asset	An asset describes such objects as meters, poles, pipes, transformers, components, or any other material item owned or managed by an organization.
Asset Location	The physical location where the asset is installed. Some examples of asset locations are service points, underground connections, poles, and so on.
Buckets	Use organization units to sort and organize the items in the Resource Tree. Buckets hold the activities that are not yet assigned to the field resources.
Component	Components are devices or other objects that are attached to an asset.
Control Zones	Discrete, hierarchical sections of a utility's distribution system. The control zone configuration requires defining zones, assigning devices to zones and, optionally, creating zone sets (or groups) that assist in assigning crews to multiple zones and to filter crews.
Crews	A collection of one or more resources in Oracle Field Service and can include field resources, vehicles, and so on.
Inventory	Inventory is tracked, ordered, and received from vendors and allocated in the inventory system. As inventory is allocated to work, the system passes this information back to the work management system so that maintenance managers and crews know that their parts are available.
Organization Units	Organization units are typically used to group resources by location. They cannot be route owners and you cannot assign activities to them. Buckets can have activities. However, dispatchers can assign activities to buckets manually and routing can assign activities to buckets automatically.
Stock Item	Stock items are defined as material resources that are held in storerooms and issued to activities that require the materials to be completed. The stock item record determines whether or not the type of stock can be purchased, repaired, tracked, and so on.

The following terms are used throughout this document:

Business Term	Description
Storeroom	Storerooms define the physical location where stock items are stored.
Work Orders	Work orders group similar activities and are used to manage activities to perform any kind of work such as inspection, install, replacement, upgrade, and so on. They are mainly used to facilitate approval processing for work projects. Work orders might also be created to manage a set of activities where the activities are manually linked to the work order.
Work Skills	The job-specific skills necessary to perform an activity. These act as a defining criteria to match activities with the resources.
Work Queues	A queue is the collection of activities that are assigned and can be in different states of completion. Each workday the crew will activate, deactivate its queue according to its works schedule.
Work Zones	The defined geographical area within which a resource can perform activities. Work zones are defined within the work zone dictionary, and are then assigned to resource records.

## **Business Flows**

This integration supports the following business flows:

- Mobile Control Data Sync (Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Initiated)
- Process Activity (Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service initiated)
- Activity Completion (Oracle Field Service initiated)
- Resource Usage (Oracle Field Service initiated)
- Interim Status Updates (Oracle Field Service initiated)
- Asset Installs and Removals (Oracle Field Service initiated)
- Pickup Order (Oracle Field Service initiated)
- Truck Storeroom Admin Sync (Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service initiated)
- Truck Storeroom Inventory Snapshot Sync/Update (Oracle Field Service initiated)
  - Oracle Utilities OFSC DACS Route Activation
  - Oracle Utilities OFSC DACS Storeroom Sync
  - Oracle Utilities DACS OFSC Schedule Storeroom Sync
- Activity Pull Update (Oracle Field Service initiated)



## **Business Processes**

This integration supports the following business processes:

- Administration Sync
- Activity Management
- Asset Management
- Resource Usage Management
- Status Updates
- Truck Storeroom Management

#### **Administration Sync**

This feature is used to synchronize the control data from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service. It also creates the work skill related configurations needed in Oracle Field Service to match activities with resources and for crew tracking. An integration process is run on initial installation or on a need only basis when new control data from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service or work skill related configurations needs to be created or updated in Oracle Field Service.

#### **Activity Management**

This feature accepts the send data request from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and sends status updates from Oracle Field Service to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. The following activity updates are supported in this flow:

- Activity Created
- Activity Updated
- Activity Cancelled
- Activity Completed

When an activity is created, updated, or cancelled, Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service sends the activity details message to Oracle Field Service, which also includes the list of issued assets and attachments if any. The information is sent synchronously from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service, regardless of the activity type, and Oracle Field Service sends back a response.

When the activity is completed, Oracle Field Service sends the activity completion details, material usage details, service history details, and the attachment details attached at both activity and asset level along with the completion status, to complete the activity in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

Additionally, Oracle Field Service can send an "Activity Update" request to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and this request can be initiated by the crew from Oracle Field Service to pull the latest activity details, including issued assets for which a material request was issued on the activity in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

#### Asset Management

This feature is used to perform various asset operations from Oracle Field Service to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. Oracle Field Service sends the details either before the completion or after the completion of the activity.

These operations can be performed on Assets and Components using the "Asset Query Integration flow".

- Install Asset
- Attach Component
- Replace Asset
- Replace Component

Oracle Field Service sends the Asset Query details which include Asset ID, Badge Number, and location ID to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service responds with all the asset details if the call is successful, else it responds with an error message.

There are 3 inventory pools in Oracle Field Service in which assets/components are maintained based on their status:

- Installed Pool
- DeInstalled Pool
- Customer Pool

The installed asset/attached component moves to the installed pool. The replaced asset or component, removed and Out of Service assets moves to the deinstalled pool. All the issued assets/components initially when not installed or removed will be in the customer pool. Also an empty asset location with no assets installed stays in the customer pool. The following operations can be performed on Assets and Components from Oracle Field Service, independent of the Asset Query integration process.

- Asset Removal
- Asset Out of Service
- Component Removal
- Undo Install
- Undo Remove
- Undo Attach
- Undo Replace
- Back to Service

#### **Resource Usage Management**

This feature is used to send the resource usage details from Oracle Field Service to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. Oracle Field Service sends the details either before the completion or after the completion of the activity.

The resource usage details that can include either the individual time sheet or crew time sheets by supervisor or equipment usage or other equipment usage to the Oracle Utilities OFSC DACS Resource Usage Details integration process deployed on Oracle Integration Cloud which further passes on the details to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

#### Status Updates

This feature is used to send the interim status details of the Work Activity from Oracle Field Service to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. Oracle Field Service sends the details before the completion of the activity.

#### **Truck Storeroom Management**

This feature is used to synchronize storeroom data from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service where the storeroom type is Truck.

If the storeroom from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service does not exist in Oracle Field Service, a new record in Oracle Field Service is created. If the resource already exists, then the corresponding data in Oracle Field Service is updated. Otherwise, the respective resource's status is marked as 'inactive'.

Now, you can synchronize the inventory in each storeroom as follows:

- Storeroom Sync on Route Activation: On route activation of a crew or an individual, if there are any trucks associated with that crew or an individual is checked, and then the initial storeroom inventory is synchronized.
- Scheduled Storeroom Sync: Batch scheduled from Oracle Integration Cloud to run at a specific time of day/week/month to run snapshot synchronization of all trucks synchronized between Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and Oracle Field Service.

## **Functional Overview**



This diagram illustrates the functionality of the business processes in this integration:

This section focuses on the functionality of the business processes in this integration.

- Activity Creation
- Activity Assigned to Crew
- Starting the Activity
- Asset/Component Operations
- Resource Usage
- Service Histories
- Attachments
- Complete Activity

#### **Activity Creation**

Work activities are work tasks that need to be completed and originate from a work order or a work order template. As examples, activities may be created for maintenance and inspection of assets, to create service history, and to install or exchange devices.

Two types of work activity can be created in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service:

• Normal activity type

• Segmentable activity type

A multi-day activity or segmentable activity requires several days to complete. The activity is split into segments that can be managed individually while remaining parts of a single entity. Multi-day activity segments appear in the activity list on Oracle Field Service mobile home screen, and are included in sections according to their statuses.

Refer to Working with Multi-day Activities for more information.

Refer to User Operations to find more information about "Activity Creation".

#### Activity Assigned to Crew

For the further processing work activity which is created in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service is sent to Oracle Field Service default bucket configured. In return, Oracle Field Service sends a success or failure acknowledgment to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. After sending outbound message from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service for each work activity ID a unique mobile activity ID is generated through which we can identify the activity in the Oracle Field Service dispatch console. The Dispatch Console is used to monitor the field and assign activities to technicians/crew based on their work skills.

In the Dispatch console, click the activity to view the **Activity Details** screen that displays the activity information, including activity type, activity duration, activity status, asset information, resources related to an activity and a location information which gives a clear picture about an activity.

The Resources assigned to the activity can be classified as:

- **Crafts:** Crafts, or labor, defines a skill or work specialty for crew members, such as mechanic, electrician, plumber, arborist, and so on. The actual number of labor hours required to work a task can be tracked using timesheets.
- **Equipment:** Equipment is another type of resource and considered to be machinery, tools, or vehicles that are required to work activities. Examples of equipment might include trucks, bulldozers, cranes, hammers, and drills. The actual number of equipment hours required for the task can be tracked using timesheets.
- **Materials:** Material is another type of resource and can be considered as the stock items required for the work. Costs are derived from the stock item when issued to the activity from a material request or from a purchase order's invoice of a direct stock item.
- **Miscellaneous Resources:** Miscellaneous or "other" resources are those resources that are not considered to be either craft, equipment, or material and which enable a crew member to work an activity. Some examples of resources that are considered "other" are meals, hotel stays, mileage, documents, attachments and so on.

#### Starting the Activity

After assigning the activity to the crew, the activity is presented to mobile user in read only mode in Oracle Field Service mobile screen. To make changes to the activity, enter completion information, service histories and resource usage, the crew needs to activate the route, start and lock the activity. Locking an activity guarantees that only one member of the crew can update the activity. After the work is done, unlock the activity so that other crew members can make their updates. Not all activities require the lock functionality.

There are various functionalities enabled to the crew to perform the activity.

#### **Asset/Component Operations**

A work activity is always associated with an asset or component or with an empty asset location with no assets installed.

There can be multiple assets associated with the asset location or there can be none. To additionally install an asset on the location, crew can use the install asset functionality provided in asset screen. Similarly, to attach an component to the asset, crew can use the "Attach Component" functionality provided in Asset screen. The number of assets able to be installed at a location must be valid for the asset relationship defined for the "Number of Assets Allowed" parameter on the location type.

On the Oracle Field Service Mobility screen, for each asset there is an asset/equipment details screen in which the crew can view the asset details, asset location, other assets which are associated with the same asset location and a flag which defines if the asset is working or not.

To install an asset or to attach a component crew can use the resources either from truck or from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service inventory by providing the badge or serial number which is assigned to the asset/component when created in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. While using any asset/component/item from the truck there is no need to provide badge or serial number. To get the latest inventory in the truck, crew can use the **Update Truck Inventory** option. This option is visible in the **Equipment** screen only if there is a truck assigned to the crew member. But, before using this feature, Oracle Field Service truck inventory needs to be in sync with Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service, while this can be achieved by using the "Sync Truck Inventories" functionality available in the Oracle Field Service **Resources Info** screen. Whereas "Refresh Activity" is used to get the latest updates on the activity or if any asset/component is issued after assigning the activity. After refreshing the activity, these issued assets and components are displayed in the "issued assets" row.

In Oracle Field Service mobile screen, crew is provided the resource usage functionality to keep track of the resources used, number of hours spent on processing the activity and other miscellaneous resources.

#### **Resource Usage**

Resource Usage is calculated under three factors:

• **Timesheets:** Crew can enter the timesheets which are used to record the amount of time that workers (labor resources) spend on activities or work orders. Once charges are entered, processing allows these workers to receive proper compensation for their work and labor charges are applied to the appropriate cost buckets.

**Note:** The ability to provide timesheets is given only to certain group of crew.

- **Equipment:** Equipment is referenced on activities as a material resource requirement. The system tracks usage and reports the costing associated with that usage against the total cost of completing the activity.
- Other Direct Charges: Other direct charges are incurred on activities as a material resource requirement from "miscellaneous resources". The system tracks usage and reports the costing associated with that usage against the total cost of completing the activity. Along with these features, crew also has the privilege to add, edit, or delete service histories.

#### **Service Histories**

Service history is used to capture and record relevant information regarding service or maintenance on assets/activity. Typically, it is used to record inspection feedback, pass/ fail details, downtime, parts failure information, maintenance or service logs, or other information regarding service on the asset/activity.

Service history types that are linked to asset types and activity types while creating an activity in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service control which service history can be created for assets or activity.

There are dedicated service history types for each kind of service towards asset/activity. Generally, there are two levels of service histories:

- Activity Level/Planned Service Histories
- Asset Level/Asset Service Histories

For Planned Service Histories, the crew have an option to add service histories at Activity Level or at All Applicable Assets, if that particular service history type is not asset specific.

In the **Entered** section of the respective **Service Histories** page, crew can see the service history status in the Planned Service Histories the service history level. Example: Whether it is added at "Activity Level" or "Asset Level" additional to the service history status.

On top of the service history levels, there are 5 supported categories for service histories: Questionnaire, Inspection, Failure, Downtime, and General. Each service history type has a defined business object in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. Additionally, customized service histories can also be created based on the requirements.

Crew can add multiple service histories at any level, but crew can complete the activity only after entering all of the required service histories. If any service history type has the required flag as 'yes' at both the levels, then crew can add it in any one of the asset or activity level.

#### Attachments

When crew needs to capture any images or files related to the asset/activity, they can use the attachment support functionality provided both at asset and planned service histories. Crew has the privilege to add, edit, and delete the attachments added at asset and activity level service histories before completing the activity. For any service history type, number of attachments at asset level and activity level together combined must be less than or equal to 15. An error pops up if tried otherwise.

Some implementations may require that attachments be available from the application; for example, activity level attachments which are displayed on **Activity Details** page. These are added to the activity while creating in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and are sent to the Oracle Field Service through Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service outbound messages. Crew is permitted to only download such types of attachments but not edit or delete it at the activity level.

If the crew thinks there is a need to create an additional activity to fix other issues observed while performing the existing activity in the field, then the crew can create a follow up work order request to the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

This follow up work order request is categorized into two:

- **Follow up work:** If the new identified issue is related to the asset of the existing activity then it is said to be follow up work.
- New Work: If the new identified issue is not related to the existing asset, then such request is categorized as New Work. After creating the follow up work order request, a unique mobile activity ID is assigned to the new activity created and is sent to Oracle Field Service dispatch console. Based on the requirement, crew can decide if this new activity must be recorded under work order in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service or not. The new activity created can be assigned to the responsible crew and all other features applies like any other normal activity.

#### **Complete Activity**

After reaching the requirement of the activity, the crew can complete the activity. But, certain validations have to be done before the crew can complete the activity and these may include:

- Required service histories at both activity and asset level are entered or not.
- Saved service histories are completed or not.
- If there is an activity dependency between two activities, then their conditions are met or not.

Only after these validations are successful, crew is directed to the **End Activity** page to complete the activity. After completing the activity, the service history details are added at both activity and asset level. Resource usage and attachment details are also added, as well the completion status and activity durations.

All these details are sent to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service which triggers a completion event in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. Completion events are used to capture closeout information against the activities received from an external application. To confirm if an activity process is successful or not, check the completion event status.

## **Use Cases**

AFTER RECEIVING AN INBOUND MESSAGE ACES FAILURI S FOR ONE OF SC, LIA ACTIVITY CREATER LIAN WAN OPERATOR é LIAM RECEIVES THE PAM'S REQUEST AND CREATES THE WORK ACTIVITY IN WAM, BASED ON THE AFTER THE ACTIVITY IS CREATED, LIAM SENDS AN OUTBOUND MESSAGE TO THE OFS D ON THE IREMENT PAN-CHILITY CO ... CTIVITY OMPLETIO UPDATES PERFORM ACTIVITY FIELD WORK OFSC ADMIN ~ AFTER ACHIEVING ACTIVITY REQUIREMENTS, CREW COMPLETES THE ACTIVITY, THE COMPLETION STATUS I SENT TO WAM THROUGH OLC FLOW ASSIGNED CREW WILL ACTIVATE THE QUEUE AND START PERFORMING ACTIVITY&ASSET OPERATIONS ON TOP OF THE ACTIVITY OPERATIONS, CREW GETS THE LATES? INFORMATION ON THE ASSETS, TRUCK AND OTHER ACTIVITY PERATOR OR FILL ASSIGN FIVITY TO EW BASED ON FIELD CREW(S)

The following scenario illustrates a mix of use cases for this integration:

## **Chapter 3**

## **User Operations**

This chapter describes the various user operations and provides instructions to perform those operations. It focuses on the following:

- Creating an Activity
- Sending an Activity
- Assigning a Crew
- Starting the Activity
- Locking the Activity
- Activity Details
- Service Histories
- Measurements
- Resource Usage
- Activity Completion
- Asset Installs and Removals
- Customer Devices
- Mobile Inventory Management

## **Creating an Activity**

To create an activity:

- 1. Login to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and navigate to the **Work Order Details** page.
- 2. In the Activity Info section, click Add Activity.
- 3. Select the required Activity Type and click OK.



- 4. Enter the activity details and populate all the required fields.
- 5. Attach at least one asset or location to the activity.
- 6. Click Save to create the activity.

## Sending an Activity

To send the activity from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service:

- 1. Navigate to the **Activity Log** page of the repective activity.
- 2. Click the **Outbound Synchronization Request** object to open the **Outbound Request Details** page.

me	Menu 🔫 🛛 A	dmin 🗕 🔍 Search Menu	History 🖣	· +		
ork A	ctivity: 230000	048 / 1, Work Order 23A, Requi	red By 05-05-2	023, Sent		
Main	Resources	Cost Permit Completion	Log			
Activi	itylog					
ACUVI	ty Log					
	DATE/TIME	DETAILS	STATUS REASON	USER	LOG TYPE	RELATED OBJECT
1	04-24-2023 09:29AM	New Sync Request (49578839215846) has been created.		System , English ( SYSUSER )	System	Activity Outbound Synchronization Request, Pending, 04-24-2023 09:29AM
2	04-24-2023 09:29AM	Transitioned to Sent.		System , English ( SYSUSER )	Status Transition	
3	04-24-2023 09:29AM	Transitioned to Active.		System , English ( SYSUSER )	Status Transition	
4	04-24-2023 09:29AM	Transitioned to Approved.		System , English ( SYSUSER )	Status Transition	
-	04-24-2023 09:29AM	Transitioned to Pending Approval.		System , English ( SYSUSER )	Status Transition	
5						

3. Under **Record Actions**, click **Send Message** to initiate the request to Oracle Field Service.

ne Menu <del>-</del>	Admin <del>-</del>	Q Search Menu	History 👻 🗲		
tbound Sync Re	quest: Acti	vity Outbound Synchr	onization Request, Pending, 04	I-24-2023 09:29AM	
Main Log					
Outbound Cune Deeu					
Outbound Sync Requ	Jest				
Main				^	Record Actions ①
INFORMATION	Activity Out	tbound Synchronization Request, Pe	nding, 04-24-2023 09:29AM		Send Message
STATUS	Pending				
EXTERNAL SYSTEM	Workforce I	Management ofsc			Record Information
ACTIVITY	230000048	/ 1, Work Order 23A, Required By 05-	05-2023, Sent ⊘		
Outbound Message	Detail				
Related Sync Reques	t				

4. Navigate to the **Administrator Dispatch Console** in Oracle Field Service to see the mobile activity created corresponding to the activity created in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

≡	ORACLE		Q. Search in activities or parts	<b>P</b>	
li Li	Dispatch Console OHMeter Non-scheduled View • Actions • 🔘 🔳 🕅				
뗮				6 6 6 0	
<del>g</del> e	🔨 Q Name or ID 🛛 🗙	Activity Activity Type 11 Work Skill 11 Start 11 End 11 Activity St. Address 11 Activity ID Activity Number 11	External WO ID 11 External Activity ID 11	3	
	🖬 🗙 Utilities	Activity - Minor Repair     12:00 AM 01:50 AM Pending     4288787 dummysuc2	454645f6-0d6b-4dab-bf46-0c4	92cb6aa39b	
	🕨 🗶 OHMeter (99)	Activity - Activity - Minor Repair     12:00 AM 01:50 AM Pending Neal Energy Center  Unit 4 4290232 200000004/170	28638843589455 17708892316291		
~	) 🚯 OPAL (4)	Activity - Activity - Minor Repair Carpenter(1/1) 12:00 AM 01:50 AM Pending 301 Main St 4294647 230000048/1	08949065575645 27394410801600		

Make sure the required configurations are in place. If there is a configuration issue, Oracle Field Service returns an error message.

Example: Invalid activity type

## Assigning a Crew

To assign a crew:

1. Navigate to the **Administrator Dispatch Console** in Oracle Field Service and open the mobile activity to view the **Activity Details** screen.

≡	ORACLE		Q Search in activities, parts or inventorie:	A
5 5 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8	Dispatch Console     Activity Details     OHMeter, 04/24/23	tes Satey Checklist <mark>Maye</mark> Activity Link Navigate	Map Book (create) activity Nearby Activities Navigation ••••	
ះជ	Activity Information	Activity Requirements	Location Information	
ବ	Work Order 27394410801600	Required By Date 2023-05-05	Name	
୭ୁ୭	Activity ID 4294647	SLA Start 04/23/23 12:00 AM	Address	
Ø	Activity Status Pending	SLA End 04/25/23 12:00 AM	SUTMAINSE	
曲	Activity Number 230000048/1	Emergency Indicator No	Canton	
۲	Work Order Description Work Order 23A	Total Risk Priority 4	State OH	
	Activity Description Work Order 23A	Carpenterneeded 1	ZIF/Postal Code	
	Activity Type Description Activity - Minor Repair		Account Number	
	Activity Asset Information Bearing-LG-Component-Tracked, In Store, 943DKS3 0011, Bearing - Main Shaft -Wind Tow	9245, BRG-		
	Duration 5 hour		Phone	
	Traveling Time		Email	

- 2. Click **Move** to navigate to the **Move Activity** page.
- 3. Search the crew member to be assigned to the activity and click Move.

		~ ]																Show	all (
	4 am	05:43 AM	7 am	8 am	9 am	10 am	11 am	12 pm	1 pm	2 pm	3 pm	4 pm	5 pm	6 pm	7 pm	8 pm	9 pm	10 pm	11 pm
+10:40																			
	+10:40	4 +10:40	4 0543 AM	4 0543 AM 2 +10:40	4 0543 AM 7 8 +10:40	4 0945 AM 7 8 9	4 00x3 AM 2 8 9 10 +10:40	4 00x1 AM 2 8 9 10 11 +10:40	4 0548 AM 2 8 2 10 11 12 +10:40	4 05x437AM 7 8 2 10 11 12 1 +10:40	4 0543AM 7 8 7 10 11 12 1 2 1 2 +10:40	4 0543 AM 7 8 9 10 11 12 1 2 3 +10:40	4 0943AM 7 8 2 10 11 12 1 2 3 4 +10:40	4 0943AM 7 8 2 10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 +10:40	4 0943 AM 7 8 9 10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 +10:40	4 0943 AM 7 8 9 10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 +10.40	4 00345 AM 7 8 9 10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 +10:40	4 0945 AM 7 8 9 10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 +10:40	4 00243 AM 7 8 9 10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 10 +10:40

The activity is moved to the crew's queue.

	John&Reese							< Mono	day, April 2	4th, 2023 🔉	View 🔻	Actions	•
Τ.	Qjohn	××	Activity		Activity Type %	Work Skill 1↓	Start ∜	End 1↓	Activity St	Address 1↓	Activity ID	Activity Number	Exte
	John,Reese			Activity - Minor Rep	Activity - Minor Repair	Carpenter(1/1)	02:22 PM	04:12 PM	Pending	301 Main St	4294647	230000048/1	089
	John&Reese [OH001] ← Truck 2 (1/1)												
	Utilities												

## **Starting the Activity**

To start an activity:

- 1. Login to the Oracle Field Service Mobility application.
- 2. Access the **Mobility** page using the worker's or technician's credentials. The page shows the activities in the queue of the worker or technician.
- 3. Click **Start** to start the activity in the queue.

	Q Search i	in activities	
J My Route		< Thursday, August 4th, 2022	>
Travel Time 0:30 Start A Activity - Minor Repair 200000021/524 04/08/22 03:00 AM	My Route	Fo 1 Pending	
MeterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4, Ravenna, OH, 44266      Idle Time: 9:02	E 1 Activities	Start Activity	

4. Populate the Start Time then the Work Activity Number and click Submit.

## Locking the Activity

Activity is presented to mobile user in read only mode. To make changes to the activity, enter completion information, service histories and resource usage, you must lock the activity. Locking an activity guarantees that only one member of the crew can update the activity. After the work is done, unlock the activity so that other crew members can make their updates.

**Note:** The Lock functionality can be enabled or disabled by setting the lock.functionality property in the DACSOFSC\_ConfigProps lookup in Oracle Integration Cloud to "true" or "false". For more information, refer to the *Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Integration to Oracle Field Service Configuration Guide* included in this release.



## **Activity Details**

Crew can view information about an activity, including resources required for the activity and assets to be serviced.

Activity Details	Activity Dependencies Follow Up Work New Work Mop Knowledge
	Activity Details
	Work Under 204 sodar 234 BLDCT
	Aring D Aring D
	Activity Number
	Activity type Activity type
	Multicity Promete Activity 1/get for GPSL Integration
	Completed Description
	WDR order 25A BLD07
	Anatti Location Type for OPSC Integration, Build 28528, Uniontown, OH, 44752, USA, Time Zone US Poolsc Time
	Asset Information Asset Tripe for CPTIC Integration, Planned, & 102844, & 102844
	Emergency Induster
	Reporter information
	Total Bak Proving
	n Pergainal By Data
	2023-05-24 Time to complete
	11 hours 5P minutes
	Location Information
	Addwar Bulle 2020
	City
	United and a second sec
	UM 20(Peak Gele
	44702
	Attachments
	Ouirk Links
	gunn name
	Assets Resources Resource Usage
	Segmentable activity info
	Sutua Sutual
	Table dention
	11 hours 57 minutes (11 hours 57 minutes - non-scheiduler), 1 segments Propres
	6%, 1 of 1 segments are finished

To view resources, navigate to the **Activity Details** page and click **Resources**. Resources include planned materials, work skills, equipment and other resources defined by activity planner.

	2/22/20	)				۹		
05 😨 Albur	Complete	Follow Up Work New	NoA Adjust Time	Not Done	Suspend	Nevigete	Мар	Book (create) activ
		CENTRAL STORER	юм					
		O-Ring, NB70	1	00000 O-Ring	NB70 (0000	1036), Each, 1	1.6400000	, inventory
		Seal, Grease, D547	9 1.	.00000 Seal, G	rease, D5419 (	(0000035), E	ach, 89.25	00000, Inventory
Materials:		Seal, Rod, Connect	ting, NB60 1	.00000 Seal, R nventory	od, Connectin	g, NB60 (00	00038), Ea	ch, 45.9600000,
		GASKET, PLATE, C	OVER 1	00000 GASKE	T, PLATE, CO	VER (000018	2], Each, 3	4.9500000,
Work Skills:		Maintenance Tech	nician N	Aaintenance Te	chnician (I fo	r 0.50 hrs)		
Equipment:		Portable HDPE Pol Fusion Fusing Mar	y Welder Pipe 1 Drine 1	Portable HDP6	Poly Welder I	Pipe Fusion F	using Mac	hine for 4.00 Hou
		Contractor Service		00000 (Centra	utter fan inar	Dellar		

To view the list of assets for an activity, navigate to the **Activity Details** page and click **Assets**.

ssets/Equipment	Follow Up Work	New Work	Update Truck Inventory	Refresh Activi
	171-1111			196 0
A 🕂 Existing 3				
∡ Assets 3				
4A Scanner Air Fan2				1
Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, Ir 4A Primary Air Fan Asset	n Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan			1
Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000004, MTR00 MeterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4 Asset	14, Meter, Power, Tracked			1

The following figure shows Oracle Field Service displaying all assets attached to an activity. Select the required asset to view the asset information.

Asset/Equ Meter - Power - Tr	ipment Details acked, MTPW-000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked - MeterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4Asset
	Asset Details
	Asset Information Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked
	Badge Number MTR004
	Asset Description Meter - Power - Tracked
	Serial Number MTPW-000000004
	Asset Location
	Location Information MeterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4
	Service Area North
	Asset Worked: Yes
	Asset Worked
	Quick Links
	Service History Measurements

The crew can also view the details of attachments. In Oracle Field Service, click **Attachment** on the **Activity Details** page. These activity level attachments are added to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service while creating the activity and are sent to the Oracle Field Service through Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service outbound messages. The user is permitted to only download the attachment, but not edit or delete it at the activity level.

## **Service Histories**

Two types of service histories can be entered for activity:

- Planned Service Histories: Planned service histories are requested by a person who plans an activity and must be entered by field crew. These service histories can be entered from the **Planned Service Histories** page. After they are created, they will be displayed among the asset specific service histories.
- Asset Service Histories: Asset service histories are additional service histories valid for that asset. They are listed in the asset's **Service Histories** page.

#### **Planned Service Histories**

To enter planned service histories, navigate to the **Activity Details** page and click **Planned Service History**. The **Planned Service Histories** page is displayed.

Asset Information:	All applicable assets	
Planned Service History List		🛃 Entered
Associated Permit Numbers Repired No: Entered 0	$\oplus$	No items to display.
INTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Repired No: Entered 0	$\oplus$	
General SH Regired No Entered 0	$\oplus$	
Downtime Asset Level		
PM - Meter Calibration (Annual) Joset Level		
PM - Meter DO Cleaning Asset Level		
Failure AssetLevel		
Quick Links		
Asset Details Activity Details		

To enter the planned service history details:

1. From the list of planned service histories that are part of the activity, click + next to the specific service history, and add the necessary details.

Associated Permit Numbers Required No. Entered 0	$\oplus$	No items to display.	
INTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Required No Entered 0	$\oplus$		
General SH Required No Entered 0	$\oplus$		
Downtime Asset Level			
PM - Meter Calibration (Annual) Asset Level			
PM - Meter DO Cleaning Asset Level			
Failure Asset Level			

Users have an option to add service histories at Activity Level or at All Applicable Assets, if the service histories are not asset specific.

2. Click Complete. Service histories are displayed in the Entered pane.

Asset Information:	Activity All Applicable Assets	
Effective Date/Time*:	21.02.23 06:09:00	e.
Service History Comments:		
		*

If **All Applicable Assets** is selected, service histories will be added at all applicable assets and will also be displayed in the **Entered** section with an indication as **Asset Level**.

Activity Information: Asset Information:	All applicable assets	epiacerinstali Assetrinstali Asset tracked & Test H	ĸ
Planned Service History List		🛃 Entered	
Associated Permit Numbers Required: No Entered: 0	$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED Asset Level	Ľ
NTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Required: No Entered: 0	$\oplus$		
General SH Required: No Entered: 1	$\oplus$		
Downtime Isset Level			

If Activity is selected while adding the service histories, they will be added at activity level and displayed in the **Entered** section with an indication **Activity Level**.

Activity Information: Asset Information:	200000021/619 - Asset re All applicable assets	placelinstall Asset/Install Asset tracked & Test FR	
Planned Service History List		d Entered	
Associated Permit Numbers Required No Entered 0	$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED: Asset Level	ď
INTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Required No Entered 0	$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED Activity Level	Ľ
General SH Required No Entered 2	$\oplus$		
Downtime Asset Level			
PM - Meter Calibration (Annual) Asset Level			

Note: Crew can also save the service history in 'pending' state.

3. Click **Save**. The pending service histories are displayed in the **Entered** pane with the 'pending' status.

21.02.23 06:09:00	e1
	21022300000

Activity Information: Asset Information:	200000021/619 - Asset replace/install Asset/install Asset tracked & Test FR All applicable assets		
Planned Service History List		🛃 Entered	
Associated Permit Numbers Required No Entered 0	$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED: Asset Level	ß
INTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Required No Entered 0	$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED: Activity Lavel	ß
General SH Required No Entered 3	$\oplus$	General SH Status: PENDIVG: Asset Level	C
Downtime Asset Level			

- 4. To complete a service history in 'pending' status:
  - a. Click **Edit** to edit a specific service history.



The completed service histories are displayed in the **Entered** pane. The number of times the service history was added is also shown.

	d Entered	
$\oplus$	General SH Status COMPLETED AssetLevel	Ľ
$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED: Activity Lavel	ľ
۲	General SH Status COMPLETED AssetLevel	ß
	⊕ ⊕	Control State     Control

- b. Click Attach to attach images of various artifacts.
- c. Browse and select the file to attach. Click Upload.
- d. After the attachment is uploaded, a list of attachments (unsaved attachments) is shown. Click **Complete** to complete the service history.
- e. Make sure the service histories that are marked as **Required: Yes** have at least one entry.

#### **Asset Service Histories**

To enter an asset's service histories, navigate to the **Asset** page and click **Service History**.

Activity Information:	210000029/1 - Hydrant Ir	ispection	
Asset Information:	Hydrant, Badge Number 37998, In Service @ Hydrant - 311 Jamatt Ct, Naperville		
Asset Location Information:	Hydrant - 311 Jamatt Ct, Naperville		
Service History List		🛃 Entered	
Hydrant Inspection Questionaire Required: Yes Entered: 1 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	No items to display.	
Downtime Required: No Entered: 1 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	Planned	
Failure Required: No: Entered: 0: Planned: No	$\oplus$	Downtime Status /FENDING	0
General SH Required: No: Entered: 1: Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	General SH Status /FENDING	6
Reset Asset Condition Service History Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	Hydrant Inspection Questionaire Status #ENDING	0
General Repair SH Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
PM - Hydrant Inspection Required: No: Entered: 0: Planned: No	$\oplus$		
PM Event- Annual Shutdown Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
PM Event- Bi-Annual Shutdown Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
Quick Links			
Asset Details Activity Details	Complete All		

To enter the service history details:

- 1. Click **Service History** on the **Assets** page.
- 2. From the list of service histories that are part of the activity, click + next to the specific service history to add the required details.

Activity Information: Asset Information: Asset Location Information:	20000021/524 - Asset replace/Install Asset/Install Asset tracked Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked MeterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4		
Service History List		🛃 Entered	
Downtime Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	No items to display.	
Failure Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	Planned	
General SH Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	No items to display.	
INTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
PM - Meter Calibration (Annual) Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
PM - Meter DO Cleaning Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
Quick Links			
Asset Details Activity Details	Complete All		

Asset Information: Asset Location Information:	Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked MeterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4
Effective Date/Time*:	04/08/22 05:16:00 PM
Service History Comments:	Add comments here

3. Click **Complete**. The service histories are displayed in the **Entered** pane.

Asset Location Information:	10101110111000 - 111 111111	GH11 7
Service History List		ntered
Downtime Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED
Failure Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	Planned
General SH Required: No Entered: 1 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	No items to display.
INTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	
PM - Meter Calibration (Annual) Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	
PM - Meter DO Cleaning Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	
Quick Links		
Asset Details Activity Details	Complete All	

**Note:** Crew can also save the service history in 'pending' state. Click **Save**. The pending service histories are displayed in the **Entered** pane with the 'pending' status.

General SH			
Asset Information: Asset Location Information: Effective Date/Time*:	Meter - Power - Tracked, MeterFlow 650 - in WW F 04/08/22 05:20:00 PM	MTPW-000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked Plant 4	
Service History Comments:	Save the data		
Save Complete	Attach Disr	niss	
Activity Information: Asset Information: Asset Location Information:	20000021/524 - Asset re Meter - Power - Tracked, MeterFlow 650 - in WW F	place/Install Asset/Install Asset tracked MTPW-0000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked tant 4	
Service History List		d Entered	
Downtime Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED	ß
Failure Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	General SH Status: PENDING	ľ
General SH Required: No Entered: 2 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	Planned	
INTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	No items to display.	
PM - Meter Calibration (Annual) Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
PM - Meter DO Cleaning Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
Quick Links Asset Details Activity Details	Complete All		
- 4. To complete a service history in 'pending' status:
  - a. Click **Edit** to edit a specific service history.

Activity Information: 20 Asset Information: M Asset Location Information: M	10000021/524 - Asset replace/li eter - Power - Tracked, MTPW- eterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4	nstall Asset/Install Asset tracked 000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked	
Service History List	4	Entered	
Downtime Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: Yes	÷	Seneral SH Ratus: COMPLETED	ß
Failure Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	÷	Seneral SH <sub>Ratus</sub> : PENDING	ß
General SH Required: No Entered: 2 Planned: Yes	÷ 🖸	Planned	
INTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	(±) No	items to display.	
PM - Meter Calibration (Annual) Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
PM - Meter DO Cleaning Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	÷		
Quick Links			
Asset Details Activity Details	Complete All		

b. Click Attach to attach images of various artifacts.

Asset Information: Asset Location Information:	Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000004, M MeterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4	ITR004, Meter, Power, Tracked
Effective Date/Time*:	04/08/22 05:20:00 PM	艶
Service History Comments:	Attach an image	

- c. Browse and select the file to attach. Click Upload.
- d. After the attachment is uploaded, a list of attachments (unsaved attachments) is shown. Click **Complete** to complete the service history.

The completed service histories are displayed in the **Entered** pane. The number of times the service history was edited is also shown.

Activity Information: Asset Information: Asset Location Information:	200000021/524 - Asset r Meter - Power - Tracked MeterFlow 650 - in WW	eplace/Install Asset/Install As , MTPW-000000004, MTR00 Plant 4	iset tracked 4, Meter, Power, Tracked
Service History List		🛃 Entered	
Downtime Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED	ß
Failure Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	General SH Status: COMPLETED	ß
General SH Required: No Entered: 2 Planned: Yes	$\oplus$	Planned	
INTQuestionnaireSHTypeDesc Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$	No items to display.	
PM - Meter Calibration (Annual) Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
PM - Meter DO Cleaning Required: No Entered: 0 Planned: No	$\oplus$		
Quick Links Asset Details Activity Details	Complete All		

- e. Populate the details for required service histories.
- f. Make sure the service histories that are marked as **Required: Yes** have at least one entry.
- g. Click Asset Details to navigate back to the Asset Details page.

There are five service histories categories supported out of the box: Questionnaire, Inspection, Failure, Downtime and General. They correspond to business objects defined in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

#### **Measurements**

To enter an asset's measurements:

- 1. Navigate to the **Assets** page.
- 2. Click Measurements.

			Remove	Out of Service	Attach Componer
311/11/11/11/	W//SIEIUS		11.		
Asset Worked: Yes					
Asset Worked					
Attachment Count:		0			
Quick Links					

3. Click + on the Measurement Mobility page.

Activity Information: Asset Information: Asset Location Information:	2000000211429 - Asset replace/instal Asset/Instal Asset Instel & Test FR Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, in Service (2) 4A Primary Air Fan 4A Primary Air Fan
Activity Information	
Quick Links Asset Details Activity Deta	is

4. Enter the required measurement details and click **Save**.

Assec inormation	Middle		
Asset Location Information	Pump 2, RAS, Middle		
Measurement Type	Gallons Flow	<b>.</b>	
Reading Date/Time	2020-01-10T18:24:26		
Reading	1	٥	
Reason	Planned	Ŧ	

The measurement is displayed in the list.

Activity Information: Asset Information: Asset Location Information:	200000021/426 - Asset replace/Install Asset/Install Asset/	
Activity Information	(	Ð
Runtime Hours Reading Date/Time: Apr 07,2022 at 10:27 AM Reading: 1	C (	Э
Quick Links Asset Details Activity Details		

- 5. Click the edit icon to edit the measurement. You can enter multiple measurements.
- 6. Click Activity Details to navigate back to the Activity Details page.

#### **Resource Usage**

To enter resource usage details:

- 1. Click Resource Usage in the Quick Links section in the Activity Details page.
- 2. Enter time sheets, equipment, and other details.

The user operations performed on the **Resource Usage** page are shown for both Individual Crew and Supervisor.

#### Individual Crew

- a. Click + against the **TimeSheet** section for an individual crew to enter individual timesheets.
- Actual time spent on the activity is defaulted in the time sheets to avoid manual entry. But, a crew can always change the time spend by manually selecting date time from the calendar.

- When the activity is in started state, the **Work Started** field defaults to the time the crew started the activity. **Work Stopped** defaults with the time derived from the activity's start time plus its duration.
- When the activity is completed by the crew, work started and work stopped are populated with the exact times that the activity was stared and completed.
- The **Hours** field is read-only and defaulted with the difference between **Work Stopped** and **Work Started**.

The timesheet also auto populates the crew member's craft or work skills. Additionally, the user has an option to view all the craft skills. Select the **View All Crafts** checkbox to view the available craft skills.

Activity Information:	200000021/524			
Employee Information*:	John			
Date":	05/08/22		Ē	
Regular/Overtime*:			¥	
Crew Shift Type:			v	
Labor Earning Type:			~	
Craft*:	Carpenter Foreman	1WD-Hour	Ψ.	
	view all crafts			
Hours":	0.16			
Work Started*:	04/08/22 07:21:00/	AM	ė.	
Work Stopped*:	04/08/22 07:31:00/	AM	臣	
Travel Time:	HH: 00	MM: 3		
Save Dismiss				

Activity Information:	20000021/523	
Employee Information*:	John	
Date*:	28/07/22	Ē
Regular/Overtime*:	Regular	Ŧ
Crew Shift Type:		٣
Labor Earning Type:		Ŧ
Craft*:	Maintenance Engineer Test no hr rate	Ŧ
Hours*:	Carpenter ForemanWD-Hour Carpenter/WD-Hour Cathodic Provention TechWD-Hour Craft Code With Special Char Draw	Ĵ
Work Started":	Electrician/WD-Hour Einancial Analysis Consultant	- 11
Work Stopped":	Financial Analyst Consultant For Error Testing - Work Skill and WS Property	
Travel Time:	For Error Testing 2 - Work Skill and WS Property HVAC Technician/WD-Hour Helper Impector/WD-Hour	L.
Save Complete	Instrument TechniciarWD-Hour Lend Operator Line Technician SeniorWD-Hour Line TechniciarWD-Hour MT Testing for Error - Craft Work Skill MarchinetWD-Hour	

- b. After saving, the timesheet is created in 'pending' status.
- c. Click the **Edit** icon. Enter the necessary details and click **Complete** to complete the timesheet.
- d. Populate the entries for equipment and other.
- e. Navigate back to the **Activity Details** page after populating all the required resource details.
- f. Click **Complete** to verify the eligibility of the activity to complete.
- g. If all activities are not eligible for activity completion, the following message is displayed. Click **OK**.

Required service histories are not completed	
	OK

h. Else, it will navigate to the End Activity screen. Click Submit.

The completion information is sent to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and the activity is completed.

#### Supervisor

A supervisor can enter individual timesheets (highlighted in purple) or for team (highlighted in yellow). In addition, a supervisor can enter individual timesheet for himself if the secure parameter, "ofsc\_sup\_in\_team" is set to true/yes in the plugin settings.

Activity Information	20000002/2 - PP_WO2	
TimeSheet		° ⊕ 8. ⊕
No items to display.		
Equipment		$\oplus$
No items to display.		
Cther		$\oplus$
No items to display.		
Activity Details		

- a. Click + against the **TimeSheet** section to add an individual timesheet (highlighted in purple in the figure above).
  - Actual time spent on the activity is defaulted in the time sheets without manual entry. But, a supervisor can always change the time spent by manually selecting from the calendar.
  - When the activity is in started state, the **Work Started** field defaults to the time the crew started the activity. Work Stopped defaults with the time derived from the activity's start time plus its duration.
  - When the activity is completed by the crew, work started and work stopped are populated with the exact times that the activity was stared and completed.
  - The **Hours** field is read-only and defaulted with the difference between **Work Stopped** and **Work Started**.
  - The timesheet also auto populates the crew member's craft or work skills. Additionally, you can view all the craft skills. Select the **View All Crafts** checkbox to view the available craft skills.

Parala a lafa maila da		
Employee Information*:		Ŧ
Date":	29.11.22	
Regular/Overtime*:		Ŧ
Crew Shift Type:		¥
Labor Earning Type:		Ŧ
Craft":		¥
	view all crafts	
Hours*1	1.5	
Work Started*:	25.11.22 02:19:00 AM	ė.
Work Stopped*:	25.11.22 03:49:00 AM	臣
Travel Time:	HH: 00 MM: 11	

- b. Enter the required information and click Save.
- c. Click the + icon to add timesheet for the team (highlighted in yellow in the figure above).
- d. After saving, the timesheets for each crew member are created in 'pending' status.
- e. Click the **Edit** icon. Enter the necessary details and click **Complete** to complete the timesheet.
- f. Populate the entries for equipment and other.

Crew Information:	CrewManager	
and a managements		
Date*:	29.11.22	
Regular/Overtime*:		Ŧ
Crew Shift Type:		Ŧ
Labor Earning Type:		<b>~</b>
Hours*:	1.5	
Work Started":	25.11.22.02.19:00 AM	E.
Work Stopped*:	25.11.22.03.49.00 AM	E2
Travel Time:	HH: 00 MM: 11	
Employee	Craft	Add
George,Baily	CarpenterWD-Hour	<b>*</b>
	view all crafts	
CrewManager	Application Development Manager	<b>-</b>
	view all crafts	

#### **Activity Completion**

To complete an activity:

- 1. Navigate back to the **Activity Details** page after populating all the required resource details.
- 2. Click **Complete** to verify the eligibility of the activity to complete.
- 3. If all activities are not eligible for activity completion, the following message is displayed. Click **OK**.



4. Else, it will navigate to the End Activity screen. Click Submit.

The completion information is sent to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and the activity is completed.

#### **Asset Installs and Removals**

This section includes instructions to perform asset installs and removals.

- Installing Assets
- Attaching Components
- Moving Assets Out of Service
- Removing Assets or Components
- Undoing Installations
- Undoing Newly Attached Components
- Navigating to Parent Assets
- Undoing Asset Removals
- Moving Assets Back to Service
- Replacing Assets
- Replacing Components
- Undoing Asset Replacements

#### **Installing Assets**

To install an asset:

- 1. Start the activity.
- 2. To install an asset, click the location.

< Assets/Equipment				Q Search in acti	
	Follow	v Up Work	New Work	Update Truck Inve	ntory Refresh Activity
SSR11111111111111			10000		~///////
	🖌 💏 Existing 2				
	⊿ Assets 2				
	4A Primary Air Heater			1	
	Al Fan - Centrifugal, TESTFANJAN001, TESTFANJAN001 SL-Storage, Canton Garage, 125 Main St, Canton, OH, 44702, US,	Time Zone: US/F	Pacific Asset	1	

3. Click Install Asset.

Asset/Equipment l	Details	Q Search	Q Search in activities or invento	
		Install Asset	Follow Up Work	New Wo
11/11/11/		A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL PROPERTY AND		11.300
Asset Location				
Asset Excellent				
Location Information:	4A Primary Air Heater			
	S Ean Doom			
Building:	3141162211			

4. Enter the **Badge Number** of the asset to be installed in this location and click **Install**.

Asset Operation: Activity Information:	Install Asset 200000021/406	
Effective Date Time*:	2022/04/07 12:16:00	ŧ.
Select Asset		
Badge Number:		Ξ
Install Dismiss		

The newly installed asset is shown in the **Installed** pool.

Assets/Equipment	(
A 💏 Existing 3	
# Asset 3	
Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI FAN_1, In Service @ Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Asset	1
Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked MeterFlow 650 - in VWV Plant 4 Asset	1
Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000030, MTR030, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - Lake Substation Bus 1 Asset	1
anstalled	_
Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4076_AESCANFN_1, Out of Service @ Out of Service Storeroom 48	1

#### **Attaching Components**

To attach a component:

- 1. Start the activity.
- 2. To attach a component, click the asset.

⊿ Asset	: 3
Fan - Bus 1	Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI FAN_1, In Service @ Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Capacitor 3 - Asset
Mete	r - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked MeterFlow 650 - in WW 4 Asset
Mete Lake	r - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000030, MTR030, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - Substation Bus 1 Asset
4 🛃	nstalled 1

3. Click Attach Component.

Asset/Equipment Details			Q. Search in activities or inventories			
22 👰 Adjust		Remove	Attach Component	Replace	Follow Up Work	New Work
411-1111-1111A - 41/1-830						11.000 00 000
Asset Details						
Asset Information:	Motor-Tracked, 2903, 2903					
Badge Number:	2903					
Asset Description:	Motor-Tracked					
Serial Number:	2903					

4. Enter the **Badge Number** of the component to be attached and click **Attach**.

Asset Operation: Activity Information: Asset Information:	Attach Component 220000017/4 Motor-Tracked, 2803, 2903		
Effective Date Time*:	2022/04/07 12:35:00	ŧ.	
Select Component			
Badge Number:		)u)	

The attached component is shown in the Installed Pool.

Assets/Equipment	
A T Existing 3	
# Asset 3	
Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI FAN_1, in Service @ Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Asset	1
Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-00000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked MeterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4 Asset	1
Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-00000030, MTR330, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - Lake Substation Bus 1 Asset	1
▲ 💋 Installed 2	
d Asset 2	
Brakes-Component, BRK-0001, BRK-0001, Brakes Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Attached Component Installed	1
Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4076, AESCANFN_1, Out of Service @ Out of Service Storeroom 48	1

#### **Moving Assets Out of Service**

To move an asset out of service:

- 1. Start the activity.
- 2. To move an asset out of service, click the asset.

sous/Equipment	Follow Up Work	New Work	Update Truck Inventory	Refresh Activ
	111-11-1			1746.6
Evisting				
A TEXISTING 5				
⊿ Assets 3				
4A Scanner Air Fan2				1
	FAN, In Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan			1
Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_ 4A Primary Air Fan Asset				

3. Click **Out of Service**.

↑ Assets/Equipment		
Asset/Equipme Fan - Centrifugal, Badge M	ent Details Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, In Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan - 4A Primary Air FanAsset	Remove ····
		Out of Service
	Asset Details	Attach Component
	Asset Information Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, In Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan	Replace
	Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN	Follow Up Work
	Asset Description Fan - Centrifugal	New Work
	Serial Number S00054	
	Asset Location	
	Location Information	

4. Enter the **Effective Date/Time** and click **Submit**.

Asset Operation: Activity Information: Asset Information:	Out of Service 200000021/525 Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4AF	PRI_FAN, In Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan
Effective Date Time*:	08/08/22 10:27:00 AM	臣
Submit Dismiss		

The asset moves to 'out of service' status in the **Deinstalled** pool.

Brakes-Componer	nt, BRK-0001, BRK-0001, Brakes Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Attached Component Installed	1
Fan - Centrifugal, Scanner Air Fan As	Badge Number 4076_AESCANFN_1, Out of Service @ Out of Service Storeroom 48 set Installed	1

#### **Removing Assets or Components**

To remove an asset/component:

- 1. Start the activity.
- 2. Click the asset or component to be removed.



3. Click Remove.

↑ Asset/Equipment Details	
Asset/Equipment Details Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, In Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan - 4A Primary Air FanAsset	Remove
	126-0
Asset Details	
Asset Information Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, In Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan	

4. Enter the Effective Date/Time and click Submit.

Asset Operation: Activity Information: Asset Information:	Remove Asset 200000021/525 Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, In Service @ 4A Prima	nry Air Fan
Effective Date Time*:	08/08/22 10:30:00 AM	
Submit Dismiss		

Asset 2
 Brakes-Component, BRK-0001, BRK-0001, Brakes Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Attached Component Installed 1
 Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4076, AESCANFN.1, Out of Service @ Out of Service Storeroom 48
1
 Scanner Air Fan Asset Installed
 Asset 2
 Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053, 4APRI FAN.1, In Service @ Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Capacitor 3 I
 Bus 1 Out Of Service Asset
 Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-00000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked MeterFlow 650 - In WW
1

The asset or component is removed and moved to the **Deinstalled** pool.

#### **Undoing Installations**

To undo the installation:

1. Click the newly installed asset in the **Installed** pool.

▲ Asset 2	
Brakes-Component, BRK-0001, BRK-0001, Brakes Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Attached Component Installed	
Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4076_AESCANFN_1, Out of Service @ Out of Service Storeroom 48 Scanner Air Fan Asset Installed	1
👫 Deinstalled 2	
Asset 2	
Deinstalled 2     Asset 2     Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI FAN_1, In Service @ Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Out Of Service Asset	2

- 2. Click Undo Install Asset.
- 3. Click Submit.



The asset or component installation is undone and it disappears from the **Installed** pool.

#### **Undoing Newly Attached Components**

To undo a newly attached component:

1. Click the newly attached component in the **Installed** pool.

To province particular	
Meter - Power - Tracked, Lake Substation Bus 1 Ass	MTPW-000000030, MTR030, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - et
ed,	MTPW-000000030, MTR030, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - et

- 2. Click Undo Attach Component.
- 3. Click Submit.

Action:	Undo Attach Component
Activity Information:	20000036/181
Component Information:	0100007 - Truck 2, (Bearing -Wind Tower Main Shaft - WinEnergy), Inventory Tracked

The attach operation is undone and the component disappears from the Installed pool.

#### Navigating to Parent Assets

To navigate to the parent asset:

1. Click the newly attached component in the **Installed** pool.



2. Click **Go to Parent Asset** and proceed to the parent asset to which the component is attached.

		Attach Component	Undo Install Asset	Follow Up Work	NewW
				15-720 1	I KAO
Asset Details					
Asset Information:	Main Shaft - Tracked, 999583333	144559, MS-0004, Main Shaft - Wi	nd Tower		
Badge Number:	M5-0004				
Asset Description:	Runtime Hours				

#### **Undoing Asset Removals**

To undo an asset removal:

1. Select the removed asset.

⊿ Asset 2		
4B Scanner Air Fan		1
Meter - Power - To Lake Substation Bu	racked, MTPW-00000030, MTR030, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - s 1 Asset	1
🛯 🎦 Deinstalle	d 2	
⊿ Asset 2		
Fan - Centrifugal, Bus 1 Out Of Servic	Badge Number 4053_4APRI FAN_1, In Service @ Capacitor 3 - Bus 1 Capacitor 3 - ce Asset	1

2. Click Undo Remove.



3. Click Submit.



The removal is undone and asset disappears from the **Deinstalled** pool.

#### **Moving Assets Back to Service**

To move an asset back to service:

1. Click Asset in Out of Service.

anner Air Fan2			
- Power - Tracked, MTPW-00000 Flow 650 - in WW Plant 4 Asset	0004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tra	ked	
HOW 0.0 - IT WY PRIL 4 ASSet			

2. Click Back to Service.

Assets/Equipment	
Asset/Equipment Details Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, In Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan - 4A Primary Air FanOut Of Service	eAsset
	Back to Service
Asset Details	Follow Up Work
Asset Information Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, In Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan	New Work
Badge Number 4053_AAPRI_FAN	

3. Click Submit.



The asset moves to the **Existing** pool.

## Assets 3

4A Scanner Air Fan2	1
Fan - Centrifugal, Badge Number 4053_4APRI_FAN, In Service @ 4A Primary Air Fan 4A Primary Air Fan Asset	1
Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked MeterFlow 650 - in WW Plant 4 Asset	1

#### **Replacing Assets**

To replace an asset:

1. Select the asset that needs to be replaced.



2. Click Replace.



3. Enter the badge number of the asset to be replaced with and click **Replace**.

Activity Information:	200000021/525	
Asset Information:	Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000	004, MTR004, Meter, Power, Tracked
Effective Date Time*:	05/08/22 07:17:00 PM	Eé
Effective Date Time*:	05/08/22 07:17:00 PM	Eé

The new asset moves to the Installed pool and the replaced asset moves to the **Deinstalled** pool.

Gearbox-Com PLTS Compone	nponent-Tracked, 0000121326, GEAR-004, Gearbox, Tower Drivetrain VFD, Pump 9, RAS, ent	1
Meter - Powe Lake Substatio	er - Tracked, MTPW-000000030, MTR030, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - on Bus 1 Asset	
🖌 🛃 Installe	ed 1	
4 🔁 Installe Neter - Power - 1	2d 1 Tracked, MTPW-000000060, MTR060, Meter, Power, Tracked Template VFD, Pump 9, RAS,	
Installe Meter - Power - 1 PLT5 Asset Installe	ed 1 Tracked, MTPW-00000060, MTR060, Meter, Power, Tracked Template VFD, Pump 9, RAS, id	
Installe Meter - Power - 1 PLT5 Asset Installe	2d 1 Tracked, MTPW-00000060, MTR060, Meter, Power, Tracked Template VFD, Pump 9, RAS, ed	

#### **Replacing Components**

To replace a component:

1. Select the component to be replaced.

Gearbo PLTS Co	xx-Component-Tracked, 0000121326, GEAR-004, Gearbox, Tower Drivetrain VFD, Pump 9, RAS, omponent	1
Meter Lake Su	Power - Tracked, MTPW-00000030, MTR030, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - bistation Bus 1 Asset	1
🛯 🛃 Ins	stalled 1	
Meter - Po PLT5 Asset	stalled 1 wer - Tracked, MTPW-000000060, MTR060, Meter, Power, Tracked Template VFD, Pump 9, RAS, Installed	1
Meter - Po     PLT5 Asset	stalled 1 wer - Tracked, MTPW-000000060, MTR060, Meter, Power, Tracked Template VFD, Pump 9, RAS, installed	1

2. Click Replace.

3. Enter the badge number of the replacing component and click **Replace**.

< Asset/Equipment Details				Q Search in activities or inventories			
	Remove	Attach Component	Replace	Follow Up Work	New Work		
					11.000 - 000		
Asset Details							
Badge Number:		)	u)				
Replace Dismiss							

The replaced component moves to the **Deinstalled** pool and the newly attached component moves to the **Installed** pool.

er - Tracked, MTPW-000000030, MTR030, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - ion Bus 1 Asset	1
alled 2	
-Component-Tracked, 0000121325, GEAR-003, Gearbox, Tower Drivetrain VFD, Pump 9, RAS, pponent Installed	1
Power - Tracked, MTPW-00000060, MTR060, Meter, Power, Tracked Template VFD, Pump 9, 5 Asset Installed	1
nstalled 2	
Component-Tracked, 0000121326, GEAR-004, Gearbox, Tower Drivetrain VFD, Pump 9, RAS	1
	eer - Tracked, MTPW-000000030, MTR030, Meter, Power, Tracked Template Capacitor 12 - ion Bus 1 Asset talled 2. -Component-Tracked, 0000121325, GEAR-003, Gearbox, Tower Drivetrain VFD, Pump 9, RAS, mponent Installed Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000060, MTR060, Meter, Power, Tracked Template VFD, Pump 9, 5 Asset Installed

#### **Undoing Asset Replacements**

To undo replace an asset:

1. Click Installed Asset/Component.

A Asset 2	
Gearbox-Component-Tracked, 0000121325, GEAR-003, Gearbox, Tower Drivetrain VFD, Pump 9, RAS, PLTS Component Installed	1
Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000060, MTR060, Meter, Power, Tracked Template VFD, Pump 9, RAS, PLTS Asset Installed	
_	
Me Deinstalled 2	
A Esset 2	
Deinstalled 2     Asset 2     Gearbox-Component-Tracked, 0000121326, GEAR-004, Gearbox, Tower Drivetrain V/D, Pump 9, RAS, PUTS Registed Component	

2. Click Undo Replace.

<	Asset/Equipment Details	Q Searc	h in activities or inve	ntories
ه	52 👰 Adjust	Undo Replace	Follow Up Work	New Work
101.07				
	Asset Details			

3. Click Submit.

Are you sure you want to undo rep	lace?	Submit	Dismiss
Asset Operation: Activity Information:	Undo Replace 200000021/104		
Main Asset Information:	Meter - Power - Tracked, MTPW-000000060, MTR060, Me	ter, Power, Trackee	d Template

The replaced asset moves back to **Existing** pool.

d Template VFD, Pump 9,	1
d Template Capacitor 12 -	1
iin VFD, Pump 9, RAS,	1

4. Repeat the above steps to undo replace for a component.

#### **Customer Devices**

To record customer devices, navigate to the **Activity Details** page and click **Customer Devices**. On the Customer Devices page:

1. Select the manufacturer from the Manufacturer drop-down list.

Add Device     Add Device					
Manufacturer	•	Model	•	Serial Number	$\oplus$
C2M - Electric Manufacturer Ecobee Smart Thermo					
Honeywell Man Ltd S&C Electric Manufacturer					
Tokin America, Inc Viega LLC Manufacturer					

2. Select the model from the **Model** drop-down list. Note that the **Model** field is enabled only when the manufacturer is selected in the **Manufacturer** drop down list.

C2M - Electric Manufacturer 🔹	Model	<ul> <li>Serial Number</li> </ul>	$\oplus$
	C2M - Electric Model		
Customer Devices			

3. Enter the **Serial Number** for the customer device to be added.

Add Device					
C2M - Electric Manufacturer	C2M - Electric Model	Ŧ	SN123	(	)

4. Click + to add the device to the **Customer Devices** pool.

Activity Information:	vity Information: 2023000000097/1 ation Information: Building for Cu Co, Uniontown, OH, 44702/Smart Thermostat/Active					
Add Device						
Manufacturer	▼ Model	Serial Number	$\oplus$			
Customer Devices						
C2M - Electric Manufacturer	C2M - Electric Model	▼ SN123				
Save Dismiss						

Click the + or - to add or remove a device.

5. Click Save.

#### **Asset Related Work Request**

Asset related work requests are created for assets.

You can specify one of the assets linked to the activity or query asset from the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service solution.

Enter the required information and click Create. A new work request will be created and sent to the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service solution.

#### **Non-Asset Related Request**

A non-asset related request is not linked to any asset and does not contain any asset information.

Work requests created by crew can be found on the crew Requests History.

#### **Mobile Inventory Management**

Mobile inventory management supports truck storerooms that contain assets and materials.

This section includes the following:

- Overview
- Truck Materials Lifecycle Examples
- Truck Storeroom Admin Sync
- Truck Inventory Snapshot
- Assigning Truck to Crews
- Using Inventories for Activities
- Update Truck Inventories

#### **Overview**

The Mobile Inventory Management functionality includes:

- Sending mobile storeroom content details from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service.
- Viewing the contents of a truck in a handheld device.
- Recording the use of an item for an activity in a handheld device.
- Updating content of Oracle Field Service truck for additional inventory.
- Passing the use of items from Oracle Field Service to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.



Mobile storerooms (trucks) and their inventories are managed in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. A truck in Oracle Field Service is linked to a Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service mobile storeroom.

On request, the contents of the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service mobile storeroom is passed to Oracle Field Service and the contents of the linked Oracle Field Service truck is updated.



Loading the snapshot of the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Mobile Storeroom linked to a truck should occur prior to or at the beginning of the relevant crew's shift. When a mobile storeroom snapshot is loaded into Oracle Field Service the contents of the linked Oracle Field Service truck is replaced with the details recorded in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

A crew can install assets and use material from their trucks for the activities they are working on. These truck inventory transitions are recorded in Oracle Field Service.



The content of the truck is the combination of the last mobile storeroom snapshot and the inventory transactions that have occurred since the last snapshot.



On activity completion and at the end of crew shift the use of assets and materials is sent to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and the inventory of the mobile storeroom linked to the truck is updated.



During a crew's shift, the inventory of the crew's truck could get updated. Example: Additional items required for an activity could be picked up from a storeroom. These updates will be recorded in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. To update the truck's inventory in Oracle Field Service, the crew requests an update of the truck inventory.



The following diagram represents integration flows for mobile inventories movement:



#### **Truck Materials Lifecycle Examples**

This section describes various truck materials lifecycle examples.

Snapshot at the start of the shift





#### Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service updated with item use



#### **Truck Storeroom Admin Sync**

This integration process passes storeroom data from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service for the storerooms with a storeroom type whose storeroom category is Truck.



The following figure shows the truck storerooms in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service:

		LOCATION TYPE	ADDRESS
1	Maintenance 1 Bucket Truck - Electric	Truck Storeroom	Maintenance 1 Bucket Truck
2	Maintenance 2 Bucket Truck - Electricity 🚫	Truck Storeroom	Maintenance 2 Bucket Truck
3	Maintenance 3 Crew Truck - Water 🚫	Truck Storeroom	Maintenance 3 Crew Truck
4	Maintenance 4 Crew Truck - Water 🚫	Truck Storeroom	Maintenance 4 Crew Truck

The following figure shows trucks created by the integration in Oracle Field Service:



#### **Truck Inventory Snapshot**

This process passes the inventory of truck storerooms from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service updating the inventory of the Oracle Field Service truck that is linked to the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service storeroom.

**Attention!** This process will delete the content of the Oracle Field Service truck and replace it with the content of the linked storeroom in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. Any unprocessed inventory transaction in Oracle Field Service that is used in assets or materials will be lost.

The Truck Inventory Snapshot can be performed using one of the following three options:

#### • Option 1: On Route Activation

On route activation of a crew or individual, Oracle Field Service checks if there are any trucks associated with that crew or individual. If there are any, it initiates the truck inventory snapshot process.

• Option 2: Scheduled Truck Inventory Snapshot

A batch scheduled in Oracle Integration Cloud to run at a specific time initiates the truck inventory snapshot process for all truck storerooms.

#### • Option 3: On Request

The truck inventory snapshot process can be initiated by a dispatcher from the Truck Resource Inventory. This option can be used for exceptional situations.

#### **Assigning Truck to Crews**

A truck is assigned to a crew or individual. Once a truck is assigned, its contents are available to be used for those activities the crew or individual is working on.

In the following example, two trucks have been assigned to South Crew.

South Crew		*	₽₀	ľ
OH Operations	Crews			
	Team			
• 🚯 Boris Boring	(01:00 PM - 05:00 PM)			
CROSBY, An	drew			
CRANE, Tim	(09:00 AM - 06:00 PM)			
A Karen Crane		_		
👁 Maintenance	e 1 Bucket Truck - Electric	1		
👁 Maintenanci	e 2 Bucket Truck - Electricity			
Name	South Crew			
External ID	SOUTHCREW			
Queue status	activated at 01/11/22 12:17 Pf	И		
Total	1			
Pending	1			
Calendar	09 AM - 06 PM			

The inventory of these trucks is available to the crew member in the mobile application.



#### **Using Inventories for Activities**

You can see truck inventories on the activity's **Asset** tab. There are two types of items in a truck's inventory:

- Assets
- Materials

#### Assets

You can install an asset in a truck's inventory at a location associated with the activity being worked on.

- 1. Select the asset to be installed and click Install Asset.
- 2. If there is more than one location associated with the activity, select the location, and if necessary, adjust the installation date and time.

An asset will be installed at the location.

#### Materials

You can report material that has been used for an activity.

- 1. Select the item you want to use and click **Use Item**.
- 2. Specify the number of items used and click **Use**. The used items will appear in the **Installed** section.

#### **Update Truck Inventories**

During a crew's shift, the contents of a truck can be changed and the changes are recorded in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

Example: Items can be added to a truck from a standard storeroom. The inventory can be changed. In this situation, a truck inventory update should be requested from Oracle Field Service.

On receipt of a truck inventory update request, Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service returns the inventory changes to the truck's storeroom contents since the last snapshot. Changes to the Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service content resulting from inventory transactions passed from Oracle Field Service are excluded.

# Chapter 4

## Data Relationships

Both applications need to be initially synchronized to make sure the same data is reflecting in the user interfaces. This task needs to be done by the administrator after setting up the environment and schedule it periodically later to maintain the data integrity.

This chapter focuses on the following:

- Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service Data Synchronizations
- Oracle Field Service to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Data Synchronizations

### Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service Data Synchronizations

This section focuses on the following data synchronizations:

- Mobile Control Data Sync
- Truck Storeroom Admin Sync

#### **Mobile Control Data Sync**

Control data and activity types from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service are synchronized to Oracle Field Service. The work skill related configurations required in Oracle Field Service are created to match activities with resources and for crew tracking. This synchronization happens on initial installation or on a need only basis when new control data from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service or work skill related configurations needs to be created or updated in Oracle Field Service.

Control data includes codes and descriptions of selected admin entities, characteristic type valid values, and extendable lookup values. It also includes craft, equipment, and other direct changes, whose resource type is internal, needed to support timesheet and resource usage.

Activity types define the categories of the activity supported by Oracle Field Service (in this case, Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service integration to Oracle Field Service). If an activity type already exists in Oracle Field Service, it is skipped from synchronization to avoid overriding of activity type settings in Oracle Field Service.

Control data from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service have three categories:

- controlDataEntities
- resourceTypes
- workClass

The controlDataEntities.default and resourceTypes.default properties in the DACOFSC\_ConfigProps lookup can be used to control this synchronization based on the flag value. By default, this is set to "yes". Work class will always be synchronized to Oracle Field Service application.

The equipment work skill creation is optional. It is controlled by the createEquipmentWorkSkills.flag property in DACOFSC\_ConfigProps lookup. By default, this is set to "no".

**Note**: Once a resource is created in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service, the resource code (craft code, equipment code, and other resource code) cannot be changed. This synchronization integration process uses the resource codes to create the enumeration values for equipment, craft and other resource property in Oracle Field Service. Slash (/) also cannot be part of the resource code.

The enumeration values are populated for the following Oracle Field Service properties if the integration properties specified in the following table are set to "yes".

Property in DACOFSC_ConfigProps Lookup	Oracle Field Service Properties
controlDataEntities.default = 'yes'	Crew Shift Types
	Downtime Reason
	Labor Earning Type
	Material Unit of Measure
	Measurement Meter Reason
	Measurement Gauge Reason
	Overtime Type
	Pickup Work Category
	Pickup Location Type
	Pickup Work Type
	Pickup Work Priority
	Resource Unit of Measure
	Stock Item Category
resourceTypes.default = 'yes'	• Craft
	Equipment Type
	Other Resource Type
None	Pickup Work Class
* These are always synchronized to Oracle Field Service.	Activity Type To PSH

**Note:** If admin data is deleted in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service, the enumeration value will not be deleted in Oracle Field Service. The synchronous integration process cannot delete enumeration values added to a property in Oracle Field Service; the OFSC REST API that updates the enumeration values of a property does not allow it. The only way to delete an enumeration value(s) in a property is by deleting the property, recreating the property, and run the synchronization to get the latest values. If the resourceTypes.default property in the DACOFSC\_ConfigProps lookup is set to 'yes', a work skill and work skill property is created for each craft retrieved from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

#### **Managing Work Skills**

If the resourceTypes.default property in the DACOFSC\_ConfigProps lookup is set to "yes", a work skill and work skill property is created for each craft retrieved from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service. If the resourceTypes.default and createEquipmentWorkSkills.flag properties in the DACOFSC\_ConfigProps lookup are set to "yes", it creates a work skill and work skill property for each equipment retrieved from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service.

The work skill conditions are also created based on the craft, equipment, and the property values of the workSkillCond.actvtySameSkillMaxWorker.default and

workSkillCond.actvtyMaxEquipment.default properties from the DACOFSC\_ConfigProps lookup.

#### **Truck Storeroom Admin Sync**

This synchronization process is used to synchronize storeroom data from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service where the storeroom type is "Truck". Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service will send only the active storerooms data at this time.

For each storeroom from the storeroom list returned by Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service, only storerooms of TRUCK type are filtered and compared to each storeroom with the list of existing resources from Oracle Field Service.

- If the resource from the list in Oracle Field Service does not exist in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service storeroom list, the resource status is updated as "inactive" and sent to Oracle Field Service.
- If the resource from the list in Oracle Field Service exists in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service storeroom list, the corresponding data in Oracle Field Service is updated.
- If the storeroom from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service does not exist in Oracle Field Service, a new record in Oracle Field Service is created.

This synchronization process is a scheduled business flow which can be planned to run at a specific time of day/week/month to synchronize the truck admin data from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service.

The DACS OFSC Schedule Storeroom Sync synchronization process is used to synchronize individual truck's inventory from Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service which is also a scheduled business flow that can be planned to run at a specific time of day, week, or month, or can be ran manually whenever necessary.

# Oracle Field Service to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service Data Synchronizations

This section focuses on the following data synchronizations:

Truck Storeroom Inventory Snapshot Sync

#### Truck Storeroom Inventory Snapshot Sync

This synchronization is used to synchronize the inventory of each storeroom (individual truck data) in Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service to Oracle Field Service. The truck storeroom inventory can be synchronized in the following ways:

- Storeroom Sync on Route Activation
- Scheduled Storeroom Sync

#### Storeroom Sync on Route Activation

On route activation of a crew or an individual, if there are any trucks associated with that crew or an individual, the initial storeroom inventory is synchronized.

My Route John&Reese			< Tuesday, May 9th
Activate by OB:00 AM Activate Queue	My Route	۳ <mark>0</mark>	
Travel Time 0:30 Activity - Minor Repair 220000009/139 10/05/23 01:28 AM	26% •1	Pending	
	My Team	- <b>1</b>	
	JR John&Reese		
	Route is not activated		

#### Scheduled Storeroom Sync

Batch scheduled from Oracle Integration Cloud to run at a specific time of day, week, or month to run snapshot synchronization of all trucks synchronized between Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and Oracle Field Service.

The **Update Truck Inventory** option can be used from the crew's **Assets/Equipment** screen to update the inventory when transfer in or transfer out happens from the truck. Adding new truck inventory does not come under this scenario. In Oracle Field Service, the **lastSyncDateTime** field keeps track of the date when the last time inventory synchronization happened. All the inventory transfer in or transfer out happened on or after this date from the truck gets synchronized when "update truck inventory" is triggered. If no transfers happened, nothing would get updated in truck.

s/Equipment	Follow Up Work	New Work	Update Truck Inventory	Refresh
			146464	
Existing 1				
Asset, Bh: 4053_4APRI_FAN_CHI, SN: 126355200312 nner Air Fan Asset				
Truck 2 18				

The **Sync Truck Inventories** option on the **Resource Info** tab from the Oracle Field Service admin screen is used to update the truck inventory whether it is newly added or transferred, but this data is not updated in the Oracle Field Service mobile screen.

rce Info								
s/Equipment							Sync Tru	ick Inve
V~6 6~6~	10	146.65464	111-11-1	STATE OF LO		126 676		117
Resource Inventory	12							
isets 5								

Note: Before using the Update Truck Inventory or Sync Truck Inventories option, the truck's inventory in Oracle Field Service has to be in synchronized with Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service, which can be achieved by triggering the DACS OFSC Schedule Storeroom Sync flow in Oracle Integration Cloud.

# Appendix A

### Considerations

Below are important considerations and known limitations for this integration:

- Only 15 attachments per service history are allowed.
- Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service operators can delete all attachments, but Oracle Field Service crews can only delete the attachment from their activity.

# Appendix B

### **Additional Information - Integration Concepts**

This chapter includes additional information about terms and concepts required for this integration. It describes examples of several use cases and defines key terms for both Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service and Oracle Field Service respectively:

- Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service
- Oracle Field Service

#### **Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service**

Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service efficiently manages asset lifecycles, streamlines maintenance operations, maximizes supply chain performance, enhances safety, and improves regulatory compliance.

#### Activities

Work activities are work tasks that originate from a work order or a work order template and they need to be completed. Activities may be created for maintenance and inspection of assets, to create service history, and to install or exchange devices.

Example: An activity needs a particular crew to fix the issue, and that activity is assigned to a crew in Oracle Field Service. These activities are identified in the Oracle Field Service by Mobile Activity ID or Work Activity ID.

in Resource	s Cost Permit	Completion	Log				
/ain ①			$\sim$	Record Actions ①			$\sim$
NFORMATION	220000009 / 139, workorde	r_aligntest, Required By		Edit Duplicate	2		
CTIVITY TYPE	Activity - Minor Repair, Acti	ve		In Progress CI	ose Out Resend	Cancel	
TATUS	Sent			Add To Schedule	Print		
OCATION	4A Scanner Air Fan 😡 🐗	Þ					
SSET	Smart Asset, BN: 4053_4AF	RI_FAN_CH1, SN: 1263553	200312	Record Information			^
UPPLEMENTAL WORK OCATION				WORK ACTIVITY ID	00230054579700		
VORK ORDER	220000009, Required By 02 workorder_aligntest, 139 A	-19-2022, Approved, ctivities ⊘		ORIGINAL WORK DATE	4295588 12-31-2023		
CTIVITY NUMBER	139			BUSINESS OBJECT	Work Order Activity 😡		
LANNER	North Planner (Hillen 'WAM	v2206 DEMO', Daryl)		STATUS DATE/TIME	05-09-2023 09:33AM		
ERVICE CLASS	Corrective Maintenance			CREATE DATE/TIME	05-09-2023 09:31AM		

#### **Oracle Field Service**

This section includes the following:

- Admin
- Dispatch Console
- Resource Tree
- Buckets
- Field Resources

#### Admin

The Administrator plays an essential role in the application. The Administrator user type is assigned to an individual or group of individuals who oversee the regular maintenance and updates to users, resources, calendars, and the resource tree.

The Administrator is responsible for a combination of functions that can include:

- Managing users: Adding new users and deactivating existing users.
- Assigning user types to users.
- Resetting passwords.
- Managing the resource tree.

- Managing the resource calendars, shifts, and teamwork.
- Working with work zones, work skills, work conditions, and work skills groups.

As an administrator, one of your key responsibilities is to manage user information. There are two primary types of users:

• Users who use the manage aspect.

Example: dispatchers and field managers

Field service resources who use the mobile application

Example: field service personnel

In either case, a user is someone who requires access to some part of the application's interface to act upon the incoming activities.

Many of these tasks are not daily tasks, but completed during setup of the application and management changes. Refer to the *Administer User Guide* at https://docs.oracle.com/en/cloud/saas/field-service/administer.html for more details.

#### **Dispatch Console**

The dispatch console is a dashboard for the dispatcher who can see all the activities that are scheduled or non-scheduled. The assigned dispatcher has a variety of tasks it can perform.

For more information, refer to the **Dispatch Console Activities** section at: https://docs.oracle.com/en/cloud/saas/field-service/faaca/c-working-with-activities.html#ManagingActivities-A09A0581

tch Console Non-scheduled View • Actions •								
1.560	697697	156.65405		11 111 1		146.650		
x ID X	Activity Activity Type 14	Work Skill 12	Start 11 End 11	Activity St. Address 14	Activity ID Activity Number 14	External WO ID 14	External Activity ID 15	
	Activity - Activity - Mino	or Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 A	M Pending	4284043 desc_0103_1		447c79c1-c2ee-4a09-a23e-f	
-	Activit Activity - Mino	or Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 A	M Pending Neal Energy Center  Uni 4  ABCD  EFGH	4284047 220000009/74	92455930083415	50660760472011	
)	Activit Activity - Mino	or Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 A	M Pending Neal Energy Center  Uni 4  ABCD  EFGH	4284048 220000009/75	92455930083415	54000236270496	
r (0)	Activit Activity - Mino	or Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 A	M Pending Neal Energy Center  Uni 4  ABCD  EFGH	4284050 220000009/77	92455930083415	05461616581416	
	Activit Activity - Mino	or Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 A	M Pending Neal Energy Center  Uni 4  ABCD  EFGH	4284051 220000009/78	92455930083415	02937183629306	
(96)	Activit Activity - Mino	or Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 A	M Pending Neal Energy Center  Uni 4  ABCD  EFGH	t 4284118 220000009/79	92455930083415	09389504589011	

#### **Resource Tree**

The resource tree provides a hierarchical view of your organization's resources, typically sorted by geographical region. It is displayed on the left pane of the page.

Use the toggle button to show or hide the resource tree. When you select a resource from the resource tree, the resource's activities are displayed in the work area on the right. Click the plus sign (+) next to an entity in the resource tree to expand and view the entities under that group or bucket. Click the minus (-) sign to collapse that view.

The resource types and the overview of the roles performed by each item in the resource tree are:

• **Field resource**: Performs work, has work skills, work zones associated, and has a related user that is an actual person performing work or a crew or people.
- **Vehicle**: Has work skills, inventory, and geolocation tracking enabled. When assigned to a team it may add the required work skills and inventory to be used by the team.
- **Tool**: Represents specific tools, such as 30-feet ladder and excavator. This resource can have work skills, inventory, and geolocation tracking enabled. When assigned to a team it may add the required work skills and inventory to be used by the team.
- **Bucket**: Used to accumulate work that is not yet distributed to field resources. Only the application can assign activities to this resource. This resource is used for Quota Management.
- **Organization unit**: Aggregates field resources, vehicles, and tools in the treelike hierarchy to simplify management and reporting. This resource is used for Quota Management.

### **Buckets**

Use organization units to sort and organize the items in the resource tree. In the following figure, you can note that buckets hold the activities that are not yet assigned to field resources.

tch Console View • Actions • 🕥				
100	a contraction and a contraction of		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
or ID	x □ Activity Activity Type 14 Work Skill 14	Start 11 End 11 Activity St. Address 11	Activity ID Activity Number 14 External WO ID 14	External Activity ID 11
	Activity - Minor Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 AM Pending	4284043 desc_0103_1	447c79c1-c2ee-4a09-a23e-f
:	Activity - Minor Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 AM Pending Neal Energy Center  Unit 4  ABCD  EFGH	4284047 220000009/74 92455930083415	50660760472011
)	Activity - Minor Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 AM Pending Neal Energy Center  Unit 4  ABCD  EFGH	4284048 220000009/75 92455930083415	54000236270496
r (0)	Activity - Minor Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 AM Pending Neal Energy Center  Unit 4  ABCD  EFGH	4284050 220000009/77 92455930083415	05461616581416
(96)	Activity - Minor Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 AM Pending Neal Energy Center  Unit 4  ABCD  EFGH	4284051 220000009/78 92455930083415	02937183629306
	Activity - Minor Repair	12:00 AM 01:50 AM Pending Neal Energy Center  Unit 4  ABCD  EFGH	4284118 220000009/79 92455930083415	09389504589011
		Mani Foren Control Hair		

Organization units are typically used to group resources by location. They cannot be route owners and cannot assign activities to them. Buckets can have activities. However, dispatchers can assign activities to buckets manually and Routing can assign activities to buckets automatically.

## **Field Resources**

Resources are the people who perform the activities and the items that are paired with those people. Examples of resources include technicians, tools, and trucks.

#### Difference between resource, user, and child resource

A *resource* can be a field resource (a human being), a dispatcher, an administrator, a vehicle, or a tool. All resources are elements of the resource tree. A *user* is a field resource or any other user that has access to Oracle Field Service. A *child resource* is a resource that is added to a bucket or an organization unit element of the resource tree. In the hierarchy of the resource tree, the bucket or the organization unit appears at a higher level than the child resource. A child resource can be a field resource (a human being), a vehicle, or a tool.

Users are field resources that will login to the Oracle Field Service mobile application and work on activities. Depending on the user's role and permissions they will have different responsibilities, such as a dispatcher, a manager, or an administrator user.

# Appendix C

# FAQs

Below is a list of frequently asked questions about the integration:

• Does Oracle Field Service know when a crew has lost communication? Can it send "out of range" indicators to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service?

This is not supported in the current integration.

• If Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service is configured to include a utilityspecific field on event (special priority flag), can that field be passed to Oracle Field Service?

Yes, this can be handled by utilizing user defined fields in the integration mapping, and by adding the appropriate fields in Oracle Field Service.

• Can Oracle Field Service be used for Automatic Vehicle Location, passing vehicle coordinates to Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service?

This is not currently supported. Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service uses the MultiSpeak adapter to get vehicle coordinates for displaying AVL crews. If Oracle Field Service is configured to pass location coordinates via the MultiSpeak protocol, Oracle Utilities Digital Asset Cloud Service would accept the data.